
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

May 17, 2022  5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Venus Mack  
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 
A) Presentation of a proclamation recognizing May 15-21, 2022 as National Public 

Works Week. 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-03-2022 Council Minutes 
b) 05-03-2022 Executive Session Minutes 

 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits 

Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 
6-12(a) and 6-23(h): 

 
GATA Package, LLC DBA GATA Package 
Tormenta Way 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-17: A 
Resolution approving the application for a Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) to the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and commitment of matching 
funds.  

 
8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-18: A Resolution authorizing the 

destruction of certain Municipal Records. 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-19: A Resolution amending the 
2019 Service Delivery Strategy agreement with Bulloch County. 
 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022–20: A resolution to re-establish 
the Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program. 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to award a contract for digital review software to iWorq 
Systems Inc. in the amount of $35,000.00.  



 
 

 
12. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Y-Delta Inc. in the amount of 

$695,991.09 for the installation of sanitary sewer infrastructure in the Foxlake 
Subdivision. To be paid for with American Rescue Plan Act funds approved in the 
FY2022 CIP Budget item # WWD-32-B. 
 

13. Other Business from City Council 
 
14.  City Managers Comments 
 
15. Public Comments (General) 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: www.statesboroga.gov 

 

 
To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
   Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
  
From:  John Washington, P.E., RLS Director of Public Works and Engineering 
   Marcos Trejo Jr, P.E., Assistant Director of Public Works 
 
Date:  May 10, 2022 
 
RE: National Public Works Week Proclamation 
 
 
Policy Issue:  Advocacy and Outreach of Public Works and Engineering Activities and 
programs 
 
Background:  The 2022 National Public works Week is May 15 – 21, 2022. The American 
Public Works Association uses this time to promote public works as a profession and to 
educate the public on the importance of public works activities and programs to their 
daily lives. 
 
Recommendation:  Recognition of National Public Works Week and the City of Statesboro 
Public Works and Engineering Employees. 
 
Budget Impact:   
None 
 
Council Person and District: 
All (Citywide) 
 
Attachment:  
2020 NPWW Proclamation 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
 

NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK PROCLAMATION 
May 15 – 21, 2022 

“Ready and Resilient” 

WHEREAS, public works professionals focus on infrastructure, facilities and services that are 
of vital importance to sustainable and resilient communities and to the public 
health, high quality of life and well-being of the people of the City of Statesboro; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, these infrastructure, facilities and services could not be provided without the 

dedicated efforts of public works professionals, who are engineers, managers and 
employees at all levels of government and the private sector, who are responsible 
for rebuilding, improving and protecting our nation’s transportation, water supply, 
water treatment and solid waste systems, public buildings, and other structures and 
facilities essential for our citizens; and, 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the citizens, civic leaders and children in the City of 

Statesboro to gain knowledge of and to maintain a progressive interest and 
understanding of the importance of public works and public works programs in 
their respective communities; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the year 2022 marks the 62th annual National Public Works Week sponsored by 

the American Public Works Association/Canadian Public Works Association be it 
now, 

 
RESOLVED, I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro, do hereby designate the 

week May 15 – 21, 2022 as National Public Works Week; I urge all citizens to join 
with representatives of the American Public Works Association/Canadian Public 
Works Association and government agencies in activities, events and ceremonies 
designed to pay tribute to our public works professionals, engineers, managers and 
employees and to recognize the substantial contributions they make to protecting 
our national health, safety, and quality of life. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be affixed the Seal of the 
City of Statesboro on this 17th day of May, 2022. 
 

______________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

MAY 03, 2022 

1 
 

 
 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):   

 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 04-19-2022 Work Session Minutes 
b) 04-19-2022 Council Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



2 
 

5. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location 
Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-
23(h) to: 

Jeffery Lee Dawson & Julie Norman Dawson DBA Whiskey Business 
1410 Northside Dr E 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
  

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

              NAYS: 
 
Chris Gohagan an attorney with Taulbee, Rushing, Snipes, Marsh & Hodgin representing Jeffery and Julie Dawson and 
spoke in support of their request for the proposed location reservation.  
 
Jeffery Dawson also spoke in favor of the request.  
 
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
A Motion was made to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-23(h) to: 

Jeffery Lee Dawson & Julie Norman Dawson DBA Whiskey Business 
1410 Northside Dr E 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 
  RESULT: 

 
  MOVER: 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location 
Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-
23(h) to: 

Shree Dhan Laxmi. LLC DBA EZ Liquors 
1525 Fair Rd Ste. 106 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
Chris Gohagan an attorney with Taulbee, Rushing, Snipes, Marsh & Hodgin representing Shree Dhan Laxmi spoke in 
favor of the request for the proposed location reservation. 
 
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-23(h) to: 

Shree Dhan Laxmi. LLC DBA EZ Liquors 
1525 Fair Rd Ste. 106 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 
  RESULT: 

 
  MOVER: 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location 

Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-
23(h) to: 

A) Downside Investment Group DBA Patriot Liquors 
834 Northside Dr E 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

B) Raymond Driggers DBA Whiskey Warehouse 
647 Northside Dr E 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
Andrew Lavoie an attorney with Bruce, Mathews, & Lavoie law firm represented Patriot Liquors spoke in favor of their 
request for a location reservation at 834 Northside Dr. E, stating that the building is larger, has easy access, is occupied 
and kept up, and the applicants own the building.   
Danny Merritt spoke in favor of the request for a location reservation for Patriot Liquors location reservation as well.  
 
No one spoke against the location reservation for Patriot Liquors location reservation at 834 Northside Dr. E. 
 
Ray Driggers spoke in favor of a location reservation for Whiskey Warehouse at 647 Northside Drive East.  
 
Emily Kerstiens spoke against the location reservation for Whiskey Warehouse located at 647 Northside Drive East. She 
stated concerns with it being so close to her neighborhood and she turned in a petition with 24 signatures opposing this 
location reservation.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated that a conflict does exist between these two locations as they are within 1000 yards 
of each other. Both locations are viable for operating a package store and both applicants have met the requirements to 
be awarded a location reservation by the city.  Based on additional factors of general impact of the location on the 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

surrounding areas and the lack of parking availability the recommendation is to deny both location reservations. If City 
Council chooses to support this recommendation, it is also recommended that the applicants be allowed to identify 
another location within 30 days without having to pay another application fee.  
 
Council discussion included concerns about the close proximity of both locations to residential areas as well as 
Statesboro High School. Another concern discussed was the recovery homes in the area as well.  
 
A Motion was made to accept the City Manager’s recommendation to deny a location reservation for either location and 
to allow the applicants up to 60 days to identify another location without having to pay another application fee.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits Location 
Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-12(a) and 6-
23(h) to: 

A) 815 S Main Street, LLC 
815 S Main St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

B) The County Line Too, LLC DBA The County Line 
814 S Main St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

C) Timothy Allen Hunt DBA House of Booze 
801 S Main St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
Chris Gohagan with Taulbee, Rushing, Snipes, Marsh & Hodgin law firm representing Nick Props and Robbie Bell 
spoke in favor of the request for the proposed location reservation at 815 South Main Street. He stated both applicants 
have many years of experience in real estate development within our community. Mr. Gohagan stated these two 
individuals are ideal applicants to operate this space within our community.   
 
Jeffery Johnson assistant manager at Two Guys Beverage spoke in favor of the request.   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

Leachay Duffin manager at Two Guys Beverage spoke in favor of the request stating that the applicants for 815 have 
reached out to them about working together with training and teaching staff members. 
 
Nick Props spoke in favor of the request for this location reservation. 
 
Robbie Bell spoke in favor of the request for this location reservation. 
 
No one spoke against the request for a location reservation at 815 South Main Street.  
 
Andrew Lavoie with Bruce, Mathews, & Lavoie law firm representing the County Line made a presentation and spoke 
in favor of their location reservation at 814 South Main Street. Mr. Lavoie stated that the applicants own a package store 
in Candler County and they have a good reputation in the business. He also presented three letters of recommendation 
for the applicant. 
 
Pam Hodges spoke in favor of the location reservation the County Line stating they have a good reputation in the package 
store business in Candler County.  
 
Candler County Sherriff John Miles spoke in favor of this location reservation for the County Line stating that the owners 
run a good business in Candler County. 
 
No one spoke against the request for a location reservation at 814 South Main Street.  
 
Bubba Hunt spoke in favor the location reservation for House of Booze located at 801 South Main Street. He stated he 
is a local business owner and gives a lot back to the community. He stated he wants to make this a destination location.  
 
No one spoke against the request for a location reservation at 801 South Main Street.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated that a conflict does exist between all three locations as they are within 1000 yards of 
each other. All applicants have met the requirements for the operation of a package store. Based upon additional factors 
of general impact of the location on surrounding areas a recommendation was made to award a location reservation to 
801 South Main Street due to the location having a signalized intersection and that the name of the business be changed 
from the House of Booze as the business would be located on a major thoroughfare and an entrance to Georgia Southern 
University. Also recommended is that the other applicants are allowed to identify another location within 60 days without 
having to pay another application fee.    
 
Councilmember Venus Mack stated her concerns of the close proximity of apartment complexes in the area. Although, 
not University owned a lot of students live in those apartments and I would have to say I’m not in recommendation for 
either location. 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers stated she also has concerns with the proximity of these locations to housing stating 
we just denied two other locations for the same reason.   
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated that the 801 South Main location has the highest student foot traffic being a gateway 
to Georgia Southern University and putting a liquor store in the footpath of students is not a good idea.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

7 
 

Councilmember John Riggs stated it’s not easy making a decision like this, but as I look at it the County Line with its 
back entrance I really like that, also they have run the County Line for so long with no incidents. If this comes for a vote 
I will vote for the County Line.  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr state she agrees with the other councilmembers that maybe we don’t love any of these 
locations. With Mr. Penny’s recommendation of giving the applicants 60 days to identify a new location without having 
to pay an application fee I see as we don’t have to approve any of these three.   
 
After further council discussion a motion was made to deny all three location reservations and to allow the applicants up 
to 60 days to identify another location without having to pay another application fee.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve a second amendment to the lease agreement with T-
Mobile for City water tower access located on Hill Street.   

 
A motion was made to approve a second amendment to the lease agreement with T-Mobile for City water tower access 
located on Hill Street.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve a 50 year ground lease agreement with Bryant’s Landing 
Statesboro LP of the former Julia P Bryant Elementary School for a Senior Housing Facility 
Development. 

 
A motion was made to approve a 50 year ground lease agreement with Bryant’s Landing Statesboro LP of the former 
Julia P Bryant Elementary School for a Senior Housing Facility Development.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved 4-1 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



8 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to award a contract for Grant Administration Services for the 
Employment Incentive Program grant at Southern Gateway Industrial Park to Allen Smith 
Consulting, subject to award of grant.  Funding will be provided by water-sewer enterprise 
funds and grant funds. 

 
A motion was made to award a contract for Grant Administration Services for the Employment Incentive Program grant 
at Southern Gateway Industrial Park to Allen Smith Consulting, subject to award of grant.  Funding will be provided by 
water-sewer enterprise funds and grant funds.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve award a contract for Professional Engineering Services 
for the Employment Incentive Program grant at Southern Gateway Industrial Park to Hussey 
Gay Bell subject to award of grant.  Funding will be provided by water-sewer enterprise funds 
and grant funds. 

 
A motion was made to approve award a contract for Professional Engineering Services for the Employment Incentive 
Program grant at Southern Gateway Industrial Park to Hussey Gay Bell subject to award of grant.  Funding will be 
provided by water-sewer enterprise funds and grant funds.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

13. Other Business from City Council: None 
 

14. City Managers Comments: 
 

City manager Charles Penny stated that a Budget review is set for May 10, 2022 from 3:00 pm – 6:00 pm in 
the Council Chambers. If additional time is needed after that meeting another Budget review will be held on 
May 24, 2022 at 3:00 pm in the Council Chambers. 
 
A public meeting has been set for the Fox Lake subdivision on May 9, 2022 at 6:00 pm in the Council 
Chambers regarding the sewer infrastructure extension into their subdivision.   
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

9 
 

15. Public Comments (General): None 
 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 10:53 am a motion was made to enter into executive session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
At 11:15 am a motion was made to exit Executive Session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
A motion was made to approve a Quit claim Deed for the former route of Georgia Avenue through First Presbyterian 
Church’s property. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



10 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:15 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 5/11/2022 
 
RE: GATA Package LLC 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Police Department, and Legal recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Venus Mack, District 3 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 

























GATA Package LLC
Statesboro Village

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments

Planning &
Development

Elizabeth
Burns

Approve

Fire Department

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approve

Legal



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning and Housing Administrator 

Date: May 6, 2022 

RE: May 17, 2022 

Policy Issue: Grant Application 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of resolution to apply for the FY 

2022 Community Development Block Grant. 

Background: The City previously approved the use of $1,500,000 of ARPA 

funding to be spent to improve housing conditions in the Johnson Street 

neighborhood through the Housing Rehabilitation Program. In response to the 

need of the community, it is requested that approval be granted for an 

application to the FY2022 annual competition for Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) funds. 

Budget Impact: $50,000 from general fund 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: CDBG Application Resolution 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468 Fax: (912) 764-4691 

www.statesboroga.gov 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


Resolution 2022-17: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO APPLY FOR THE FY 
2022 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, 

GEORGIA. 

THAT WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Community Affairs has announced the availability of 
competitive grant funds which may be utilized for the improvement of public infrastructure and 
housing through its FY 2022 Community Development Block Grant; and 

WHERAS, this grant allows expenditures for the purpose of projects that improve public facilities, 
public housing; and 

WHEREAS, the request of this application is to provide funding for housing improvements for low 
income residents in the Johnson Street Neighborhood as outlined in the City’s Urban 
Redevelopment Plan; and 

WHEREAS, grants will be awarded in an amount not to exceed $1,000,000; and 

WHEREAS, the award of the grant funds (if awarded) must be utilized over a two to three year grant 
period; and 

WHEREAS, there is a 5 percent matching requirement of cash required for this fund; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia in regular 
session assembled this 17th day of May, 2022, hereby authorizes the application for the funds to be 
awarded by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs FY 2022 Community Development Block 
Grant. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the funding will be through the City of Statesboro Planning & 
Development budget for expenditures from this grant. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager and/or Mayor are hereby authorized to execute all 
documents related to the application of said grant. 

Adopted this 17th day of May, 2022. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
P�ulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET· P.O. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Robin Demshar, Records Manager 

Date: May 09, 2022 

RE: May 17, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 

requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in an 
adopted records retention schedule, with such records only being destroyed if 
the holding period has been met as adopted by Council on April 18, 1995. 

Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-17: A 
Resolution authorizing the destruction of certain Municipal Records 

Background: N/ A 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: Proposed Resolution 2022-18 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 



RESOLUTION 2022-18: A RESOLUTION 

AUTHORIZING THE DESTRUCTION OF 

CERTAIN MUNICIPAL RECORDS 

THAT WHEREAS, OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the 

"Georgia Records Act" requires that all public records be retained for 

a specified period set out in an adopted records retention schedule, with 

such records only being destroyed if the holding period has been met; and 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk is the city official in charge of 

maintaining said records, and recommending their destruction when the 

required holding period has been met; and 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified public records noted m 

the attachments to this resolution have been retained and available for the 

required retention period, and are no longer needed by the City, and 

therefore has recommended that they be destroyed; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and 

City Council of The City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. That the public records listed on the attachments to the 

Resolution, which said attachments are hereby incorporated into this 

Resolution as if fully set forth in the Resolution, are hereby authorized 

for destruction and are required to be destroyed by the City Clerk in a 

manner consistent with state law. 

Section 2. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and 

after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 17th day of May, 2022. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

























































 CITY OF STATESBORO

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

From: Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

Date: May 12, 2022 

RE: Service Delivery Strategy Revisions 

Policy: Amendment to Existing Service Delivery Strategy Agreement with Bulloch County 

Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2022-19 : A resolution amending the 2019 Service Delivery 
Strategy agreement with Bulloch County. 

Background: 
As staff was working on preparing application for a Community Development Block Grant it was 
discovered that housing and urban redevelopment was not a service that was included in the 2019 Service 
Delivery Strategy arrangements. Therefore City staff has been working with County staff to add this service 
and review and revise all additional services to ensure they remain current (ie, new service areas, funding 
sources, etc). 

As a result, staff has identified the following eleven services that are recommended to be added or 
revised: Downtown Development, Economic Development, Housing and Urban Redevelopment, Natural 
Gas, Parks and Recreation, Road and Street Construction, Senior Citizens Program/Title 3, Social Services, 
Stormwater, Wastewater, and Water. These revisions have been coordinated with Bulloch County and 
will be considered on the Bulloch County Commissioners May 17, 2022 meeting for approval. The cities 
of Brooklet, Portal and Register will also be considering this revision for approval. 

Budget Impact: No change. 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachment:  Resolution; Amended or new SDS Forms 



RESOLUTION 2022 - 19: A RESOLUTION ADOPTION REVISIONS TO 
THE BULLOCH COUNTY (JOINT) SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY 

THAT WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro is responsible for, in conjunction with Bulloch County and the 
municipalities of Brooklet, Portal and Register, the periodic review and update of the Bulloch County Service 
Delivery Strategy; and, 

WHEREAS, the State of Georgia, Service Delivery Strategy Act establish conditions under which review and update 
of a local government’s service strategy must be initiated, and the process by which such activities shall be 
conducted; and, 

WHEREAS, the Bulloch County Service Delivery Strategy has been reviewed and found to be in accordance with 
the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, and activities related to the update and adoption of the comprehensive plans 
for Bulloch County, Brooklet, Portal, and Register; and, 

WHEREAS, the review of the Bulloch County Service Delivery Strategy has resulted in the update of documentation 
related to the following eleven (11) services: Downtown Development, Economic Development, Housing and 
Urban Redevelopment, Natural Gas, Parks and Recreation, Road and Street Construction, Senior Citizens 
Program/Title 3, Social Services, Stormwater, Wastewater, and Water; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. The Statesboro City Council approves and adopts revisions to the Bulloch County Service Delivery 
Strategy in relation to Downtown Development, Economic Development, Housing and Urban 
Redevelopment, Natural Gas, Parks and Recreation, Road and Street Construction, Senior Citizens 
Program/Title 3, Social Services, Stormwater, Wastewater, and Water in the form of amended 
Summary of Service Delivery Arrangements and any other necessary supporting documentation. 

Section 2. The Statesboro City Council authorizes the signature of a service delivery strategy “Form 4: 
Certifications” form by the Mayor. 

Section 3. This resolution shall become and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 17th day of May, 2022. 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA  

_____________________________ 
By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



















 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Instructions: 
 
Make copies of this form and complete one for each service listed on FORM 1, Section IV. Use EXACTLY the same service names listed on FORM 1. 
Answer each question below, attaching additional pages as necessary. If the contact person for this service (listed at the bottom of the page) changes, this 
should be reported to the Department of Community Affairs. 

 

COUNTY:BULLOCH Service:Natural Gas 

 
 
1. Check one box that best describes the agreed upon delivery arrangement for this service: 
 

a.)   Service will be provided countywide (i.e., including all cities and unincorporated areas) by a single service provider. 
(If this box is checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):City of Statesboro 
 

 
b.)   Service will be provided only in the unincorporated portion of the county by a single service provider. (If this box is 
checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):       
 
 
c.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the service will not be 
provided in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service:       
 
 
d.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the county will provide the 
service in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service.):       
 
 
e.)   Other (If this box is checked, attach a legible map delineating the service area of each service provider, and 
identify the government, authority, or other organization that will provide service within each service area.):       
 

 
2. In developing this strategy, were overlapping service areas, unnecessary competition and/or duplication of this service 

identified? 
 

Yes  (if “Yes,” you must attach additional documentation as described, below)     
 

No 
 
If these conditions will continue under this strategy, attach an explanation for continuing the arrangement (i.e., 
overlapping but higher levels of service (See O.C.G.A. 36-70-24(1)), overriding benefits of the duplication, or reasons that 
overlapping service areas or competition cannot be eliminated). 
 
If these conditions will be eliminated under the strategy, attach an implementation schedule listing each step or action that 
will be taken to eliminate them, the responsible party and the agreed upon deadline for completing it. 

Page 1 of 2 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY  

FORM 2:  Summary of Service Delivery Arrangements 
 



 
 
 
 
3. List each government or authority that will help to pay for this service and indicate how the service will be funded (e.g., 

enterprise funds, user fees, general funds, special service district revenues, hotel/motel taxes, franchise taxes, impact 
fees, bonded indebtedness, etc.). 

                                   
Local Government or Authority Funding Method 

City of Statesboro Enterprise Fund, CDBG, Grants, SPLOST 
            
            
            
            
            

 
4. How will the strategy change the previous arrangements for providing and/or funding this service within the county? 

 

Grants, SPLOST and CDBG funding have been added as additional funding methods. 

 
5. List any formal service delivery agreements or intergovernmental contracts that will be used to implement the strategy for 

this service: 
                       

Agreement Name Contracting Parties Effective and Ending Dates 
N/A             
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  

 
6. What other mechanisms (if any) will be used to implement the strategy for this service (e.g., ordinances, resolutions, local 

acts of the General Assembly, rate or fee changes, etc.), and when will they take effect? 
 

N/A 

 
7. Person completing form: James Pope 

Phone number: 912-764-6245          Date completed: 3/30/2022 
 
8. Is this the person who should be contacted by state agencies when evaluating whether proposed local   government 

projects are consistent with the service delivery strategy? Yes No 
 
If not, provide designated contact person(s) and phone number(s) below: 

   TOM COUCH, BULLOCH COUNTY MANAGER, 912-764-6245; CHARLES PENNY, CITY OF STATESBORO CITY 
MANAGER, 912-764-5468 

 

SDS FORM 2, continued 
 

Page 2 of 2 



















 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Instructions: 
 
Make copies of this form and complete one for each service listed on FORM 1, Section IV. Use EXACTLY the same service names listed on FORM 1. 
Answer each question below, attaching additional pages as necessary. If the contact person for this service (listed at the bottom of the page) changes, this 
should be reported to the Department of Community Affairs. 

 

COUNTY:BULLOCH Service:Stormwater 

 
 
1. Check one box that best describes the agreed upon delivery arrangement for this service: 
 

a.)   Service will be provided countywide (i.e., including all cities and unincorporated areas) by a single service provider. 
(If this box is checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):      
 

 
b.)   Service will be provided only in the unincorporated portion of the county by a single service provider. (If this box is 
checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):       
 
 
c.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the service will not be 
provided in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service: City of Statesboro 
 
 
d.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the county will provide the 
service in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service.):       
 
 
e.)   Other (If this box is checked, attach a legible map delineating the service area of each service provider, and 
identify the government, authority, or other organization that will provide service within each service area.):       
 

 
2. In developing this strategy, were overlapping service areas, unnecessary competition and/or duplication of this service 

identified? 
 

Yes  (if “Yes,” you must attach additional documentation as described, below)     
 

No 
 
If these conditions will continue under this strategy, attach an explanation for continuing the arrangement (i.e., 
overlapping but higher levels of service (See O.C.G.A. 36-70-24(1)), overriding benefits of the duplication, or reasons that 
overlapping service areas or competition cannot be eliminated). 
 
If these conditions will be eliminated under the strategy, attach an implementation schedule listing each step or action that 
will be taken to eliminate them, the responsible party and the agreed upon deadline for completing it. 

Page 1 of 2 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY  

FORM 2:  Summary of Service Delivery Arrangements 
 



 
 
 
 
3. List each government or authority that will help to pay for this service and indicate how the service will be funded (e.g., 

enterprise funds, user fees, general funds, special service district revenues, hotel/motel taxes, franchise taxes, impact 
fees, bonded indebtedness, etc.). 

                                   
Local Government or Authority Funding Method 

City of Statesboro Water-Sewer Enterprise Fund, Stormwater Fees, CDBG, Grants 
            
            
            
            
            

 
4. How will the strategy change the previous arrangements for providing and/or funding this service within the county? 

 

Grants and CDBG funding has been added as additional funding methods. The water-sewer fund was updated to water-
sewer enterprise fund. 
 

 
5. List any formal service delivery agreements or intergovernmental contracts that will be used to implement the strategy for 

this service: 
                       

Agreement Name Contracting Parties Effective and Ending Dates 
N/A             
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  

 
6. What other mechanisms (if any) will be used to implement the strategy for this service (e.g., ordinances, resolutions, local 

acts of the General Assembly, rate or fee changes, etc.), and when will they take effect? 
 

N/A 

 
7. Person completing form: James Pope 

Phone number: 912-764-6245          Date completed: 3/30/2022 
 
8. Is this the person who should be contacted by state agencies when evaluating whether proposed local   government 

projects are consistent with the service delivery strategy? Yes No 
 
If not, provide designated contact person(s) and phone number(s) below: 

   TOM COUCH, BULLOCH COUNTY MANAGER, 912-764-6245; CHARLES PENNY, CITY OF STATESBORO CITY 
MANAGER, 912-764-5468 

 

SDS FORM 2, continued 
 

Page 2 of 2 







§̈¦16

£¤301

£¤301

£¤25

£¤25

£¤301

£¤301

£¤80

£¤80

¬«24

¬«67

¬«67

¬«46

¬«67

0 0.9 1.80.45 Miles

CITY OF STATESBORO
WASTEWATER SERVICE AREAµ

Statesboro Wastewater 
Service Area
Statesboro City Limits

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY



£¤80

0 0.15 0.30.075 Miles

CITY OF PORTAL
WASTEWATER SERVICE AREAµ

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Portal Limits

Portal Wastewater
Service Area







§̈¦16

£¤301

£¤301

£¤25

£¤25

£¤301

£¤301

£¤80

£¤80

¬«24

¬«67

¬«67

¬«46

¬«67

0 0.9 1.80.45 Miles

CITY OF STATESBORO
WASTEWATER SERVICE AREAµ

Statesboro Wastewater 
Service Area
Statesboro City Limits

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY



¬«46

0 0.095 0.190.0475 Miles

CITY OF REGISTER
WATER SUPPLY & DISTRIBUTIONµ

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Register Limits

Register Water Supply Area



£¤80

0 0.15 0.30.075 Miles

CITY OF PORTAL
WASTEWATER SERVICE AREAµ

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Portal Limits

Portal Wastewater
Service Area



£¤80

0 0.2 0.40.1 Miles

CITY OF BROOKLET
WATER SUPPLY & DISTRIBUTION µ

Brooklet City Limits

Railroad

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Brooklet Water Supply Area



  

 
 
 
 

Instructions:  

This form must, at a minimum, be signed by an authorized representative of the following governments: 1) the county; 2) the city serving as the county 
seat; 3) all cities having a 2010 population of over 9,000 residing within the county; and 4) no less than 50% of all other cities with a 2010 population of 
between 500 and 9,000 residing within the county.  Cities with a 2010 population below 500 and local authorities providing services under the strategy are 
not required to sign this form, but are encouraged to do so. 
 
COUNTY:  BULLOCH 

 
We, the undersigned authorized representatives of the jurisdictions listed below, certify that:  

1. We have executed agreements for implementation of our service delivery strategy and the attached forms 
provide an accurate depiction of our agreed upon strategy (O.C.G.A 36-70-21); 

2. Our service delivery strategy promotes the delivery of local government services in the most efficient, 
effective, and responsive manner (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 (1));  

3. Our service delivery strategy provides that water or sewer fees charged to customers located outside the 
geographic boundaries of a service provider are reasonable and are not arbitrarily higher than the fees 
charged to customers located within the geographic boundaries of the service provider (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 
(20); and 

4. Our service delivery strategy ensures that the cost of any services the county government provides (including 
those jointly funded by the county and one or more municipalities) primarily for the benefit of the 
unincorporated area of the county are borne by the unincorporated area residents, individuals, and property 
owners who receive such service (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 (3)). 

 
JURISDICTION TITLE NAME SIGNATURE DATE 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

TOWN OF BROOKLET 

TOWN OF PORTAL 

TOWN OF REGISTER 

Chairman 

Mayor 

Mayor 

Mayor 

Mayor 

 

Roy Thompson 

Jonathan McCollar 

Joe Grooms 

Billy Boggs 

Donnie Roberts 

  

 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY  

FORM 4:  Certifications 
 



 CITY OF STATESBORO

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

From: Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

Date: May 12, 2022 

RE: Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program 

Policy: Business and Housing Economic Incentives 

Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022 – 20 : A resolution 
to re-establish the Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program. 

Background: 
Recently the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority (DSDA) advised City staff that the Downtown 
Incentive Program, last renewed in January 2019, has lapsed. Further, several downtown developers and 
property owners have expressed concern to both DSDA and City staff that the expiration of the Downtown 
Incentive Program has created an adverse effect on development. 

City staff has reviewed the former Downtown Incentive Program and found that the program is viable and 
helpful in promoting businesses and development of commercial and residential projects in the 
downtown district. Both staff and the DSDA support re-establishment of this program for three more 
years. 

Budget Impact: Continued waiver of applicable fees up to $25,000 per project 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachment:  Resolution 



RESOLUTION 2022 - 20: A RESOLUTION RE-ESTABLISHING THE 
DOWNTOWN STATESBORO INCENTIVES PROGRAM 

THAT WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority has demonstrated to the Mayor and City 
Council of Statesboro that the growth and development of Downtown Statesboro has been negatively impacted 
by supply chain and inflationary impacts as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic; and, 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority proposes that development incentives be renewed 
by the City of Statesboro to encourage growth, revitalization, housing, business development, and revitalization 
within the jurisdiction of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro adopted the recommended incentive program on October 19, 2010; and 
renewed and amended said program on July 9, 2011, July 3, 2012, February 2, 2016, and January 15, 2019; and, 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority finds that the incentive program adopted on said 
dates contributed significantly toward new growth, development, and revitalization in both residential and 
commercial sectors of the economy within the boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program; and, 

WHEREAS, the term of the Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program expired on January 15, 2022; and, 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority finds that sufficient need for growth and 
revitalization still exists in the downtown area; and, 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority finds that the previously enacted Downtown 
Incentive Program contributed significantly to the growth, development, and revitalization of the Downtown 
District while in effect; and, 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority finds that the re-establishment of the Downtown 
Incentive Program is essential to continued growth and development of the downtown district; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia that the Downtown 
Statesboro Incentives Program be re-established to continue encouragement of development of additional 
business and housing opportunities within the boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority 
and hereby adopts the following as the Downtown Incentive Program: 

Section 1. The boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Incentives Program shall be as follows: starting at 
the intersection of Tillman Road and South College Street, then heading northeast on Tillman 
Road to South Zetterower Avenue, then heading north on South Zetterower Avenue to Northside 
Drive East, then heading west on Northside Drive East to North College Street, then heading south 
on North College Street to West Main Street, then heading west on West Main Street to Martin 
Luther King, Jr Boulevard, then heading south on Martin Luther King, Jr Boulevard to West Grady 
Street, then heading east on West Grady Street to South College Street, then heading south on 
South College Street and ending at Tillman Road. The application of incentives shall apply to all 
properties fronting on either side of the roads named within this boundary description. 

Section 2. The following fees and taxes shall be waived for all new businesses which locate within the 
Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program boundaries, which begin operation after the adoption 
of this Resolution: 
a. Occupational Taxes and Administrative Fees for the initial year of operation; and,



b. Building Permit Fees up to $1,000 per project in total fees (not including inspections); and,
c. Fees for the initial connection of Natural Gas connection services; and,
d. Initial tap fees, including but not limited to, water, sewer, fire and irrigation taps, up to

$25,000 per project; and,
e. Alcohol license fees for the initial year of operation; and,
f. Waiver of fees shall not include fees associated with Land Disturbance Activity Permit

Application (also known as a Grading Permit) fees, building inspections, or Aid to Construction 
fees.

Section 3. The following fees shall be waived for the renovation, rehabilitation, or construction of residential 
structures, to include loft structures and single family residences within the Downtown Incentive 
Program boundaries: 
a. Demolition Permit fees; and,
b. Building Permit fees up to $1,000 per project in total fees (not including inspections); and,
c. Fees for the initial connection on Natural Gas services; and,
d. Initial tap fees, including but not limited to water, sewer, fire and irrigation taps, up to $25,000

per project; and,
e. Waiver of fees shall not include fees associated with Land Disturbing Activity Permit

Application (also known as a Grading Permit) fees, building inspections, or Aid to Construction 
fees.

Section 4. Applicable fees, taxes, and other cost that are not expressly waived or reduced herein shall be 
applied as directed within the latest Schedule of Fees as adopted by the Statesboro City Council. 

Section 5. The Downtown Incentive Program shall expire three (3) years from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution. 

Section 6. To further aid in the economic recovery, redevelopment, and sustainability of the Downtown 
Statesboro Incentive Program, projects meeting the objectives, visions, and goals of the 
Downtown Statesboro Master Plan and the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, may be considered 
for additional incentives by the Statesboro Mayor and City Council. A request for the waiver of 
additional fees, and the justification for such additional waiver, shall be submitted on a per project 
basis to the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority and the City of Statesboro Director of 
Planning & Development for review and subsequent presentation for consideration by the Mayor 
and City Council. 

Section 7. This resolution shall become and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 17th day of May, 2022. 

_____________________________ 
By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning and Housing Administrator 

Date: May 6, 2022 

RE: May 17, 2022 

Policy Issue: Purchase of Software Suite from iWorQ Software Solutions 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval to purchase software suite for 

the Department of Planning & Development. 

Background: As a response to the technological advancements in permitting 

procedures and processes, and the recent increase in the needs of both a more 

efficient system for inspections and code enforcement, the department has 

determined that in lieu of an increase in staffing a more efficient software 

solution should be implemented to ensure timely processing of permits and 

inspections. 

Budget Impact: $35,000 from general fund 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468 Fax: (912) 764-4691 

www.statesboroga.gov 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

From: Steve Hotchkiss, Public Utilities Director 

Date: 5-9-2022 

RE: Recommendation of Bidder 

Policy Issue: Purchasing 

Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Y-Delta 
Inc. in the amount of $695,991.09 for the installation of sanitary sewer 
infrastructure in the Foxlake Subdivision. To be paid for with American Rescue 
Plan Act funds approved in the FY2022 CIP Budget item # WWD-32-B.  

Background: As part of our program to extend utilities into unserved areas within 
the City we have started the process to design, bid and construct a sanitary 
sewer system in the Foxlake subdivision. Foxlake consists of 28 residential lots 24 
of which currently have single family homes on them, two are vacant. 

Work to be included under this contract will include:  installation of 
approximately 1,800 LF of 8-inch PVC gravity sewer, 10 manholes and 2,500 LF of 
4” PVC lateral services with connections, demolition of existing septic tanks, 
removal and replacement of various driveway surfaces, overlay of existing 
asphaltic concrete roadway, installation and removal of erosion and sediment 
control, and grading as necessary for completion of work described in the 
construction plans 

This project was properly bid and advertised per the City’s purchasing policy, 
however only one bid was received. The possibility of receiving only one bid was 
anticipated, due to high construction activity and the shortage of utility 
contractors, prior approval to accepted one bid was obtained from the City 
Manager.  

It is the recommendation of staff and of our consulting engineers, Hussy Gay Bell, 
to award the contract to Y-Delta Inc. In our opinion, Y-Delta, Inc. has the 



resources to successfully complete the project and the amount of $695,991.09 is 
within the approved budget limit of $750,000.00. 

Budget Impact: CIP Project WWD-32-B was approved in the 2022 Budget to be 
funded from Operating Revenue and was later changed to use ARPA funds 
instead. 

Council Person and District: Boyum 

Attachments: HGB award recommendation letter and bid abstract. 



March 24, 2022 

Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 

Director of Public Utilities 

City of Statesboro 

P O Box 348 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458 

RE: Foxlake Subdivision Sanitary Sewer Extension 

City of Statesboro, Georgia  

Dear Mr. Hotchkiss: 

The following bid was received on Mach 23, 2022, for the above referenced project: 

Y-Delta, Inc           $ 695,991.09  

As indicated, Y-Delta, Inc.’s bid was the only bid received for the Foxlake Sanitary Sewer 

Extension project.  The project was advertised on the City’s website and the Georgia 

Procurement Registry for over 30 days.  In our opinion, Y-Delta, Inc. has the resources to 

successfully complete the project.  We recommend that a contract in the amount of $695,991.09 

is awarded to Y-Delta, Inc. for the project.  

Also enclosed is the Abstract of Bids for your use. 

Sincerely, 

HUSSEY GAY BELL 

Chris Burke, P.E. 

Enclosures 



Item No. Description Qty Unit Unit Cost Total Cost Unit Cost Total Cost

1
8-Inch PVC Sewer (ASTM D-3034) 

(6'-8' depth SDR-35)
1,250 LF $44.16 55,200.00$  

2
8-Inch PVC Sewer (ASTM D-3034)

(8'-10' depth SDR-35) 
560 LF $49.19 27,546.40$  

3
Precast Concrete Manhole, 

48-inch dia. (6’-8’)
4 EA $4,907.71 19,630.84$  

4
Precast Concrete Manhole,

48-inch dia. (8’-10’)
6 EA $5,320.22 31,921.32$  

5 SS Laterals (4- inch lateral) 2,450 LF $19.64 48,118.00$  

6 4-inch SS Lateral Clean-Out 54 EA $202.45 10,932.30$  

7 Core Manhole & Inside Drop 1 EA $8,167.45 8,167.45$  

8 Service Connection 27 EA $1,800.00 48,600.00$  

9
Locate Lateral Between Building and Septic 

Tank and Connect New Lateral
27 EA $1,142.06 30,835.62$  

10 Pump Out Septic Tank, Fill with Sandy Soil 27 EA $2,963.00 80,001.00$  

11 Sodding 2,550 SY $10.19 25,984.50$  

12 Grassing, Fertilizing and Mulching 3,500 SY $0.81 2,835.00$  

13 Temporary Sediment Barrier and Controls 1 LS $19,978.60 19,978.60$  

14 Construction Entrance/Exit 1 EA $1,392.00 1,392.00$  

15
Remove And Replace Existing Shrubs,

(1' To 4' High)
50 EA $124.20 6,210.00$  

16 Restore Earth Drive With 4-Inch Stone 70 SY $132.13 9,249.10$  

17
Remove And Replace Concrete Drive Inside 

R/W
80 SY $205.57 16,445.60$  

18
Remove And Replace Asphaltic Concrete 

and Aggregate Base Course
320 SY $50.00 16,000.00$  

19 Asphaltic Concrete Overlay, 1-1/2" Thick 300 TONS $186.30 55,890.00$  

20

Remove Unsuitable Material, When 

Directed by City/Engineer.  Backfill With 

Crushed Stone Per Detail

150 CY $85.00 12,750.00$  

21

Remove and Replace Unsuitable Material, 

Dispose off-site. Replace with Approved Off-

Site Fill Material

400 CY $65.00 26,000.00$  

22

Grading, Spreading/Disposal Excess 

Excavated Material, Remove and Replace 

Signs, Remove and Replace Mailboxes, 

Remove and Replace Drainage Culverts, 

Remove and Replace Monuments, Traffic 

Control Measures; Pavement Restriping; 

Tree Protection, Mobilization; Clean-Up, 

Insurance, Bonds and Other Miscellaneous 

Items Not Specifically Listed but Necessary. 

1 LS $142,303.36 142,303.36$  

695,991.09$  NO BID SUBMITTED

ACKOWLEDGED 

SIBMITTED

I certify that this is a correct Abstract of Bids

received March 23, 2022.

Bid Bond

Mclendon Enterprises, Inc.Foxlake Subdivision Sanitary Sewer Extension Y-DELTA, Inc.

BID ABSTRACT 

Bid Total

-$  -$  

Addendum No. 1, 2, 3 and 4

Mathematical error corrected
resulting in a $0.04 increase
from the overall bid submitted
by Y-DELTA, Inc.______________________________________________

Chris Burke, P.E.

HUSSEY GAY BELL


	05-17-2022 Council Agenda
	05-03-2022 Council Minutes
	Memo_Proclamation_rev
	Proclamation-Public Works 2022
	gata package memo
	gata package app
	GATA Package Approvals
	May_2022_Council_Memo_&_Packet
	Resolution 2022-19 Records Destruction
	SDS Revision Memo 5-17-2022
	SDS Revision Resolution 5-17-2022
	RESOLUTION 2022 - 20: A RESOLUTION ADOPTION REVISIONS TO
	THE BULLOCH COUNTY (JOINT) SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY

	Downtown Incentive Memo 5-17-2022
	Downtown Incentive Resolution 5-17-2022
	RESOLUTION 2022 - 21: A RESOLUTION RE-ESTABLISHING THE
	DOWNTOWN STATESBORO INCENTIVES PROGRAM

	Foxlake Sewer Award Memo - sh
	Foxlake Award Recommendation Ltr



